STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Nature of the case

A "public utility" as defined, FLA. STAT. §366.02 (1991), is precluded from charging a "rate" that is not on file with the Florida Public Service Commission, *id.*, \$366.06, so Florida Power Corporation seeks approval for a certain amount of money that constitutes an aspect of the business transaction between itself and Sebring Utilities Commission (SUCOM). FPC and the SUCOM (jointly, "petitioners") have agreed that FPC will purchase SUCOM's electric power transmission and distribution (T & D) system, and finance SUCOM's redemption of its revenue bond indebtedness, approximately \$69 million; if PSC approves, FPC will collect that sum from SUCOM's present Customers over a period of 15 years; petitioners have labeled this reimbursement (or recoupment) the "Sebring Rider." For PSC to have jurisdiction of the proposed "approval," petitioners sought to transmogrify the Rider from a recoupment to a "rate."

In its bond redemption financing FPC will not render any service to Sebring's customers. In other words, SUCOM's present ratepayers will not receive any electric utility service in exchange for the surcharge obligation that PSC has "approved" FPC's imposing upon them.

By its ORDER here appealed, **PSC has** correctly stated the case: On September 18, 1992, petitioners filed their **JOINT** PETITION for approval of the agreement; appellant was **one** of the intervenors recognized by PSC; witnesses were examined during hearings and, on December **17**, 1992, **PSC** filed its decision, number PSC-92-1468-FOF-EU. (R. 193-205); App. **A**, *ORDER* **at 1**. Appellant timely filed its notice of appeal on January 13, 1993. (R.214)

Although most of its stated facts, relating to SUCOM's "financial problems" and its high electric utility rates (R.193-195), are not relevant to the jurisdictional argument on this appeal **PSC** has **correctly** stated that petitioners' agreement provides that **FPC** will purchase **SUCOM's** remaining assets for approximately \$54 million; the price components **are:** (1) \$17.8 million, the net **book** value of SUCOM's assets; (2) "going concern value" of \$5.7 million; and (3) **SUCOM's** bonded indebtedness' **of** \$32.4 million. *App. A, ORDER at 3, 7.*

City of Sebring and SUCOM birth, debt and proposed death'

No evidence was presented upon the subject of "rate discrimination." Therefore, we were surprised by PSC's basing its jurisdiction argument upon that subject. PSC's statement, *ORDER at 5* (R.197), compels us to state the facts pertinent to discrimination, recognizing that jurisdiction remains the issue - if it did not have jurisdiction of what petitioners have labeled the "Sebring Rider," **PSC** did not have jurisdiction to decide a discrimination issue.

1913: Sebring Charter granted; Municipality of Sebring created. 1913 Fla. Laws ch. 6773.

1945: SUCOM "created and made a part of the government of the City of Sebring," consisting of five (5) members named by Sebring's City Council; each appointed SUCOM member must be "a qualified voter of said City of Sebring "; although empowered to

^{&#}x27;Pertinent portions of the Sebring Charter, as amended and referenced herein, are reproduced in **App.** B. The special acts cited in this section are a matter of public record, of which the court can take judicial notice. **Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Holliday, 73 Fla. 269, 74 So.** 479, **485** (1917)(court required to take judicial notice of legislative acts that had been ignored by the parties in lower court)

borrow money under strictly limited circumstances (**purpose**, amount and duration), **SUCOM** was not empowered to incur long term unlimited debt, secured by revenue bonds. 1945 Fla. Laws ch. 23535 §§ 1-4.

1951: Charter amended to authorize SUCOM's issuance of revenue bonds, subject to the approval of the voters of the City of Sebring. 1951 Fla. Laws ch. 27893 §§ 12.01, 12.02.

1963: Charter amended to eliminate "any requirement of voter approval **of** proposed revenue bond issues unless required by the constitution of this **state.**" The City of Sebring electors expressly approved this amendment, by referendum. **1963 Fla. Laws** ch. 1926 §§ 1-2. *See Wohl v. State of Florida*, 480 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1985).²

1978: SUCOM issued revenue bonds totaling \$8.4 million. See Wohl, 480 So. 2d at 642.

1981: **SUCOM** issued additional revenue bonds totaling \$92,750,000; these bonds were for the purpose of paying or redeeming approximately \$8.1 million **cwed** on the 1978 bonds and for paying for a portion of the cost of "the Project (as defined in the 1981 Resolution)"; the project was an expansion of electricity generating facilities. *Id.*, 480 So.2d at 642.

1984 and 1985: **SUCOM** issued additional revenue bonds **of** \$1.8 million **and** \$2.35 million, "Series 1984 and 1985, respectively," for the purpose of paying a portion of the interest due on the previously borrowed money and for current operating expenses. *Id.*

²The court is entitled to judicially notice its own records. See Loren v. State, 601 So.2d 271, 274, n. 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Lagarde v. Outdoor Resorts & America, Inc., 428 So.2d 665 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). In Lagarde, Judge (now Justice) Grimes concurred, citing as comparison DeBearn v. Safe Deposit & Trust Co., 233 U.S. 24, 34 S.Ct. 584 (1914), for the proposition that a court has the right to take judicial notice of its prior decisions so long as at least one of the current parties had been involved therein. SUCOM was a principal party in Wohl v. State.

1986until SUCOM and FPC filed their JOINT PETITION: SUCOM incurred additional revenue bond debt, but sold its electric generation facilities, leaving it at present with only the T & D system, and debt of approximately \$88,462,000. (R.6) JOINT *PETITION*, ¶ 8.

December 11, 1986: Petitioners entered into a Territorial Agreement, attached to the JOINT PETITION; among other things, this agreement gave **SUCOM** the right to sell electricity to customers outside of Sebring's boundaries (city limits), and precluded FPC from selling electricity to customers in such designated areas of Highlands County, Florida. (R.3-5) JOINT PETITION ¶¶ 5-6, and attachment (in evidences).

1990: Sebring's Charter amended to preclude **SUCOM's** incurring additional revenue bond debt (or debt generally in excess of \$100,000) without Sebring's City Council's express approval; also conditioning **SUCOM's** sale of assets upon approval by Sebring's City Council. 1990 Fla. Laws ch. 474 §§ 1-3; (R.3) *JOINT* PETITION ¶ 4.

1991: The legislature determined that, in the event that **SUCOM** sold its **T &** D, the best interests of Sebring, SUCOM, the bondholders and the customers (ratepayers) were served by the imposition of a surcharge upon the ratepayers, but only if the ratepayers approved of **a** surcharge, by referendum; it was specifically provided that the "surcharge" to be charged by the purchaser of SUCOM's T & D "shall not be **deemed** to be a rate or charge for purposes of chapter 366, Florida Statutes, 1989, or **a** part of the rate structure of the [SUCOM] under such chapter." App. B, 1991 Fla. Laws ch. 343, *referenced in JOINT PETITION* (R.6-7).

³The joint petition, 23 pages, is indexed by PSC's clerk (R.1-23); she advises that the attachments are in evidence, we presume Vol. V,

September 18, 1992: Petitioners proposed that SUCOM go out of business by selling its T & D to FPC, the latter to advance the funds to redeem SUCOM's revenue bonds, then recoup the advance from all of SUCOM's present ratepayers; petitioners recited that ch. 91-343 has never taken effect because it was not submitted to a vote of the "qualified electors residing within the area affected by Chapter 91-343." (R.6-7)JOINT PETITION ¶ 9. However, petitioners utilized the legislature's enactment of the proposed ch. 91-343 (subject to referendum approval by those ratepayers who would or would not consent to the surcharge suggested by the legislature) to suggest that their undertaking was "consistent with these legislative findings." Id.

FPC's semantics: Transition rate and Transition Amount; to Sebring Rider; to Sebring Rider Rate; to rate

The JOINT PETITION, although including several thoughts, is based primarily upon the proposition that FPC will advance the money for SUCOM's revenue bond redemption, then recoup that money from all of SUCOM's existing customers; but, the scheme is expressly conditioned upon PSC's "approval." Thus the focus that petitioners presented was the **amount** of its "loan" that FPC would **recoup**, and the means by which FPC would recoup. There being no statutory basis for PSC's authorization of such recoupment from ratepayers (outside its authorization of the imposition of rates) petitioners opened their JOINT PETITION, using the term "transition rate"; PSC concluded the proceeding by approving a "rate." (R.1, 204) *JOINT PETITION and ORDER*.

The JOINT PETITION is silent as to the fact that SUCOM's debt was incurred solely as the result of actions taken by City of Sebring electors, and that all the debt was incurred prior to the 1986 Territorial Agreement. The JOINT PETITION makes it clear that SUCOM's

customers (who would be subject to the surcharge) reside within Highlands County, Florida, inside and outside the City of Sebring's boundaries. (*R.3-5*) *JOINT PETITION* ¶ 5, 6 and map attachments (*Exhibit* A in evidence). In other words, FPC presented its recoupment scheme as one whereby all of SUCOM's ratepayers would reimburse FPC, without making a distinction between Sebring residents and non-residents.

Petitioners initially termed FPC's suggested reimbursement a "transition rate" to be collected from SUCOM's present customers. *Id.*, at 1. This term then evolved to "Transition Amount" which they estimated to be "approximately \$68,976,000." *Id.*, ¶ 16. Petitioners then described the transition rate or the transition amount as the "Sebring Rider." (R1-23).

Petitioners stated in paragraph 18 of their JOINT PETITION:

Because the Outstanding Bonds constitute a debt of <code>[SUCOM]</code> and because the Purchase and Sale Agreement provides for the payment in full of the Outstanding Bonds and the payment of certain close-out debts <code>and</code> expenses of <code>[SUCOM]</code>, and because the Bonds were issued for the benefit of <code>[SUCOM]</code> and its customers rather than for <code>FPC</code> and all of its customers, it is proper for <code>[SUCOM's]</code> customers to be charged <code>rates</code> that are different than the <code>rates</code> charged by <code>FPC</code> to its other customers.

JOINT PETITION at 17.

Petitioners attempted to make FPC's proposed loan **look** like a rate. "RATE **SCHEDULE** SR-1" (SEBRING RIDER), attached to the **JOINT** PETITION in evidence, contains an arithmetical calculation which results in the statement that a "rate shall be assessed: Sebring Rider: 2.126¢ per KWH. . , , This **rate shall** be **for** a maximum term of fifteen (15) years from **App**arently, the calculation was crafted **by** using \$69 million as the numerator, and an estimated number of kilowatt hours as the denominator.

PSC described the "Sebring Rider," observing that petitioners' reasoning for its requested imposition "is that the costs of repayment of [SUCOM's] debts are costs associated with the provision of electric service to [SUCOM's] customers, and those costs should not be borne by [FPC's] general body of ratepayers. The petitioners have asked for our approval of a 'Sebring rider rate' to accomplish this purpose. The rate will be applied to the Sebring customers as an addition to FPC's current rates (R.198) ORDER at 6. (e.s.)

PSC entered its approval of "the SR-1 rate schedule as part of FPC's rates." *Id.* at *12*. Thus, the proposed surcharge, a term coined by the legislature in ch. 91-343 (which never became effective because the affected ratepayers were not afforded their referendum right), was presented to PSC as the misnomer, **transition rate** (also disguised as 2.126¢ per KWH), but it emerged from PSC as a rate, as to which PSC claimed jurisdiction, despite the fact that the relevant legislative expression of intent is that a **surcharge**, if approved by the affected ratepayers, is not to be considered a **rate** or **charge** for purposes of PSC's jurisdiction under FLA. STAT. ch. 366 (1991).

Testimony demonstrated that the Sebring Rider is not a "rate."

Mr. Samuel F. Nixon, Jr. is employed by FPC as its director of rate department. He stated that "all of our customers will receive the identical rates that are in our tariff book, and one rate there will be called a Sebring Rider which will be applicable to the customers in the Sebring territory." In other words, after FPC's acquisition of SUCOM's assets and customers, but for the Sebring Rider, today's SUCOM customer will pay to FPC the identical rate for electrical power service. Stated another way, FPC's and SUCOM's present customers will

receive identical service from FPC after the transaction is closed - there will not be any difference in the service that they will receive. (R. Vol. IV) Nixon testimony at 331-32.

Mr. Nixon further testified that "I'm going to be delivering kilowatt hours that are identical, but they have different prices. They have different costs. They have different cost assignments . . . "; broken down into elements, the service is identical for identical cost, but the present SUCOM customers will pay the Sebring Rider. *Id. at 333-34*.

PSC's jurisdiction argument

After observing that SUCOM suffers from serious financial problems (that it does not suggest were brought on by any of SUCOM's customers), and that its approval of the Sebring Rider was a condition precedent to FPC's willingness to purchase SUCOM's assets and customers, PSC ruled that it had jurisdiction "of these matters by the provisions of Chapter 366, Florida Statutes." (R. 193-96) App. A, ORDER at 1-4. Although it was not able to specify a statutory provision, PSC observed that ch. 366:

grants us exclusive jurisdiction over the rates and charges of investor-owned electric utilities, exclusive jurisdiction over the rate structures of all electric utilities in the state, and exclusive jurisdiction over territorial agreements and disputes between all electric utilities. The Legislature intends that the provisions of Chapter 366 are to be liberally construed to protect the public welfare.

Id. at 4-5.

Brushing aside appellant's contention that PSC was without jurisdiction because the "Sebring Rider" or the "Sebring Rider Rate" is not a "rate," PSC reasoned:

1. it has jurisdiction over rates and charges of public utilities;

- 2. therefore, it must have jurisdiction to decide what is a "rate";
- 3. there is no other forum to make such a determination;
- **4.** if there were another forum to make such a determination, PSC's "authority to set appropriate rates and charges would be effectively subverted";
- **5.** Action Group's argument is not jurisdictional, but rather one related to "rate discrimination";
- 6. "The proper question to ask here is not whether the proposed Sebring Rider is **a** rate. The proper question to ask is whether the proposed Sebring Rider unduly discriminates between customers who are similarly situated and who receive essentially the **same** service. Action Group **does** not question our jurisdiction to answer the question when it is **posed** this way."
- 7. "We hold that the matters proposed for our approval in this proceeding, including the Sebring rider rate, fall well within the purview of our jurisdiction in all respects." Id. at 5.

No precedent

Stating that its "decision has no precedential value," **PSC** observed that, in **a** "public interest" context, "the most reasonable resolution of [SUCOM's] financial problems" is granting the "relief" requested by petitioners: "[U]nique problems require unique solutions, and under

this particular set of extraordinary circumstances, we believe our decision **is** in the best interest of all concerned." *Id.* **at** 11.4

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue for the court's decision is whether PSC has jurisdiction to approve the "Sebring Rider."

Petitioners have already argued their case here, in their motion to expedite this appeal (which appellant **does** not oppose). According to them, the burr under the saddle in appellant's presenting this appeal must be eliminated at the earliest opportunity **so** that the investment bankers might sell more bonds to facilitate FPC's advancing the funds with which to redeem **SUCOM's** outstanding revenue bonds. Any rational person would agree that **SUCOM** must **go** out of business **so** that its beleaguered ratepayers will be granted relief. Nonetheless, SUCOM's disposition is beyond PSC's jurisdiction as well as the scope of this appeal.

The jurisdictional question posed here is whether, **for purposes of the proposed surcharge**, the relationship between **SUCOM** or **FPC** and the electric customers within its service **area** is one of **(a)** utility to utility customer; or (b) taxing authority to taxpayer. That the answer is the latter is made abundantly clear by **FLA. STAT. §§ 366.04-.075 (1991)**, emphasized in ch. **91-343**, which contains at least two policy decisions by the Florida Legislature: (1) the surcharge is not a rate or charge for purposes of ch. **366**; and (2) there will be no surcharge unless the affected ratepayers authorize same by a referendum. App. B, ch. **91-343**.

⁴Such criteria do not appear in FLA. STAT. ch. 366. PSC does not possess jurisdiction over the "unique problems" of municipally owned utility commissions.

Commencing analysis with ch. 91-343, petitioners nevertheless were unwilling to undertake the legislature's suggestion that the affected ratepayers be given the opportunity to vote by referendum whether they consented to be surcharged. Rather, they undertook an indirect and obfuscatory route:

- 1. FPC characterized the debt repayment "surcharge" as a "transition rate" (R.1,13-16,22);
 - 2. Petitioners assiduously avoided a description of who are *the ratepayers*;
- 3. They misleadingly characterized their undertaking as a way out of SUCOM's high rates, and as a service to public interest (R.21);
- **4.** They dissembled, presenting the obviously appealing argument that FPC's existing customers should not assist in redeeming **SUCOM's** revenue bonds (R. 13-14);
- 5. Contrary to the express provision of ch. 91-343, they convinced PSC to treat their debt repayment "surcharge" as a "rate" over which the Commission has jurisdiction under ch. 366. (R.204); App. A, ORDER at 12.

Petitioners attempt an **end** run of ch. **91-343**, engaging PSC's assistance in an unprecedented effort to reverse the ch. **91-343** mandate. Their conduct is nothing short of legerdemain. Borrowing the statutory term "transition rate" from \$366.075,⁵ without making any effort to explain how such a term can be applied to a debt repayment surcharge, and relying upon the legislature's "surcharge" authorization, ch. **91-343** (which did not become effective), they **seek** to appeal to emotion, that **SUCOM's** customers will realize an immediate reduction in their rates, FPC's basic rate being approximately one-half of the rate which **SUCOM** must

⁵infra at 17.

charge; the **FPC** rate is so low in comparison that its inclusion of the proposed surcharge results in a total that is substantially less than SUCOM's present rate. (R.14).

By enacting ch. 91-343, the legislature made clear its intent that any effort to impose a surcharge must be fair to all concerned, including those ratepayers who do not live within Sebring's city limits and have had no opportunity at any time in Sebring's or SUCOM's history (since 1945) to limit the latter's creation of debt. Petitioners' action in submitting their request to PSC can be described as nothing short of a blatant effort, under color of state law, to impose a tax upon SUCOM's ratepayers. The "surcharge" is in reality a tax, because no service is to be rendered in exchange therefore.

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