SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE .	ACTION GROUP,))
	Appellant,)
T T	v. ERRY DEASON, ETC.,	CASE NO. 81,076 PSC DOCKET NO. 920949-EU
ET A)))
	Appellees.)

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

MARSHA E. RULE Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 302066

MARTHA CARTER BROWN Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 261866

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850 (904) 488-7464

TABLE_OF_CONTENTS

	PAG	E NO.
TABLE OF	CITATIONS	ii
SYMBOLS A	ND DESIGNATIONS OF THE PARTIES	i v
STATEMENT	OF THE CASE AND FACTS	1
Α.	APPELLANT'S STATEMENT SHOULD BE DISREGARDED.	1

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant has filed a disorganized brief that fails to raise any issue for review as required by the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The extent of its failure makes it difficult for the Commission to form a reply, and this Court should decline to consider the brief at all.

The only issue which can be gleaned from Appellant's brief regards the Commission's jurisdiction to review this case. The Commission is the sole forum for approval of rates and charges imposed by public utilities, and is the proper forum to determine what constitutes a rate. According to the clear terms of Order No. PSC-92-1468-FOF-EU, the Commission determined that the Sebring rider was a fair, just, reasonable and not unduly discriminatory rate. The Commission's order fully comports with the essential requirements of law and its decision is based on competent substantial record evidence. Order No. PSC-92-1458-FOF-EU should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO CONSIDER APPELLANT'S BRIEF BECAUSE IT FAILS TO PROPERLY RAISE ANY ISSUE FOR REVIEW AS REQUIRED BY RULE 9.210, FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE

The initial brief filed by The Action Group does not comply with Rule 9.210(b)(1), (3), (4) and (5), and therefore it is extremely difficult for the Commission to form a response. The Commission requests that this Court either decline to consider the appeal based on Appellant's failure to properly raise any issues for review, or in the alternative, accept the issue as framed by the Commission.

Appellant's initial brief neither lists the issues presented for review as required by Rule 9.210(b)(1), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, nor contains argument with respect to each issue, as required by Rule 9.210(b)(5). Instead, Appellant's Table of Contents includes an outline of topic headings that Appellant believes to be pertinent to the appeal, but which cannot possibly be the issues presented for review:

Appellant's Initial Brief at i. The topic headings are reproduced in the body of the brief, although in most cases not at the pages indicated. It is impossible to glean the alleged error made by the Commission by reading the "issues" listed by Appellant.

In the text of its Summary of Argument, however, beginning on page LO, Appellant does identify one issue: "The issue for the court's decision is whether PSC has jurisdiction to approve the 'Sebring Rider'". (emphasis in original.) This is the only issue identified by Appellant.

This Court may refuse to consider matters not properly raised and organized for appeal. For example, in F.M.W. Properties, Inc. v. Peoples First Financial Savings and Loan Assoc., 606 So. 2d 372 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), an appellant's brief listed issues presented on appeal which did not comport with the topic headings listed as "Argument" in the Table of Contents. The First District Court of Appeal cautioned the appellant about the effect of failure to properly prepare and organize its brief:

[E]ach matter upon which an appellant relies for reversal must be argued under an appropriate issue presented for review. Argument which addresses a point not set out in an issue on appeal will not be considered.

606 So. 2d 372, 377. Accord, Williams v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 548 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (motion to strike appellant's brief granted where statement of facts was argumentative and contained immaterial matters, and argument section of brief was not organized so as to provide argument with regard to each issue raised); Singer v. Borbua, 497 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986), (court did not rule on merits of argument which was not made a separate issue on appeal, stating that "[i]t is well settled that, in order to obtain appellate review, alleged errors relied upon for reversal must be raised clearly, concisely and separately as points

on appeal." 497 So. 2d 279, 281.)

As noted above in the Commission's Statement of the Case and Facts, Appellant's statement of the case and of the facts is rambling and argumentative, consisting primarily of irrelevant and improper information not found in the record and inappropriate legal argument. Further, Appellant fails to cite to the record as required by Rule 9.210(b)(3), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Finally, Appellant's summary of argument is defective under Rule 9.210(b)(4), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, because it fails to condense the argument actually made in the body of the brief.

Appellant's failure to comply with appellate rules is not merely academic or technical. Rather, it results in a failure to adequately present any issues for appellate review. Appellee is forced to guess at Appellant's arguments in order to form a response.

Although it normally would be appropriate for the Commission to move to strike the brief on those grounds, to do so in this case would delay the Court's decision, which would cause irreparable harm to SUCOM and its ratepayers.2

On January 26, 1993, this Court granted in part Appellee Sebring Utilities Commission's Motion to Expedite this appeal. In its Motion, Sebring Utilities Commission asserted that this appeal should be expedited to avoid harm to its ratepayers:

Due to the Action Group's appeal of the PSC order, the closing of the sale cannot be accomplished in February 1993 as originally scheduled. Failure to consummate the transaction before April 1, 1993, however, will result in irreparable harm to both Sebring and its ratepayers.

II. THE COMMISSION ACTED WITHIN ITS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION IN REVIEWING AND APPROVING THE SEBRING RIDER RATE.

According to Appellant, the Sebring rider is not a "rate" because it "is not the consideration for any service rendered to ratepayers". (Appellant's Initial Brief at 18). Since the Sebring rider is not a rate, Appellant argues, the Commission has no jurisdiction to review it or approve it. Nothing in Chapter 366 supports Appellant's narrow reading of the Commission's jurisdiction.

Chapter 366, Florida Statutes, grants the Commission the broad, plenary authority to regulate public utilities. That authority includes the exclusive ability to set utilities' rates and charges, and necessarily includes the ability to determine whether something is a "rate" or "charge" within its authority to approve.

Section 366.01, Florida Statutes, states that the Commission's authority is to be broadly construed:

The regulation of public utilities as defined

On April 1, 1993, the next interest and principal payment will be due on Sebring's outstanding Bonds. Sebring's revenues will not be sufficient to make the April 1 payment on the Bonds unless the Trustee allows Bond Reserve Account moneys to be used for such purpose. If the Trustee is unwilling to allow such use of reserve funds, as it has indicated, Sebring will be in monetary default on its obligations to the Bondholders under the Bond Resolution.

Sebring Utilities Commission's Motion to Expedite Appeal at 3-4.

herein is declared to be in the public interest and this chapter shall be deemed to be an exercise of the police power of the state for the protection of the public welfare and all the provisions hereof shall be liberally construed for the accomplishment of that purpose.

That broad grant of regulatory authority is reinforced throughout chapter 366. Section 366.04(1), Florida Statutes (1991) states that the Commission has jurisdiction "to regulate and supervise each public utility with respect to its rates and services. . . ", and that the Commission's jurisdiction is "exclusive and superior to that of all other boards, agencies, political subdivisions, municipalities, towns, villages or counties", in order that the Commission's acts, orders, rules and regulations shall prevail in case of conflict. It is clear that the legislature intended the Commission's regulatory power to be both comprehensive in scope and superior to other regulatory authorities.

Section 366.041(2) also specifies that the Commission's authority to set "just, reasonable, and compensatory rates, charges, fares, tolls, or rentals" is to be broadly interpreted:

The power and authority herein conferred upon the commission . . . shall be construed liberally to further the legislative intent that adequate service be rendered by public utilities in the state in consideration for the rates, charges, fares, tolls and rentals fixed by said commission and observed by said utilities under its jurisdiction.

Section 366.05(1), Florida Statutes (1991) correspondingly supports the Commission's exercise of jurisdiction:

In the exercise of such jurisdiction, the commission shall have power to prescribe fair

and reasonable rates and charges, classifications, standards of quality and measurements and service rules and regulations to be observed by each public utility...

Likewise, it is clear that FPC may not impose any charge on its customers without the Commission's approval, whether the charge is called a rider, loan, surcharge, rate, recoupment, or some other term:

A public utility shall not, directly or indirectly, charge or receive any rate not on file with the commission for the particular class of service involved, and no change shall be made in any schedule.

Section 366.06(1), Florida Statutes (1991).

Appellant's argument leads to a ludicrous result: public utilities could easily evade the Commission's jurisdiction to set rates and charges by isolating them from base rates and renaming them. According to Appellant, the Commission would be without subject matter jurisdiction to stop the practice.

The Courts have consistently given a liberal interpretation to the Commission's jurisdiction to regulate rates and rate structure under Chapter 366. For example, in Florida Power & Light Co. V. Malcolm, 144 So. 657 (Fla. 1932), this Court took a broad view of the Commission's rate setting jurisdiction:

(T)he right to fix a reasonable rate of charge for public utility service, such as gas, water, and electricity, must necessarily include the right to state what shall be the basis for application of the rates, and where the rate charged is graduated according to quantity consumed, or purpose for which it is to be used, the limitation on the use is essentially as much a part of the rate as the amount charged per unit for what is used. It

is therefor sufficient to **say** that there is ample legal justification for regulation of rate practices, as well as rate scales, to be drawn from the general power to determine and prescribe reasonable rates to be charged for the service provided.

144 So. at 658, 659. The Commission's ability to decide what constitutes a rate is also drawn from the general power to determine and prescribe reasonable rates. This is consistent with the judicial deference given to the Commission's ability to construe its own statutes. See, Florida Public Service Commission v. Bryson, 569 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1990).

The Sebring rider rate clearly falls within the broad definition of "rate" approved by this Court in City of Tallahassee
V. Mann:

"Rates" refers to the dollar amount charged for a particular service or an established amount of consumption. Rate structure refers to the classification system used in justifying different rates.

City of Tallahassee v. Mann, 411 So. 2d 162, 163 (Fla. 1981).

FPC intends to charge former SUCOM customers for electric service.

The amount charged will reflect the cost to serve those customers.

The Commission properly considered the Sebring rider to be a rate because it is part of the total dollar amount FPC proposes to charge to SUCOM customers for electric service. The utility does not propose to furnish service to the SUCOM customers for free, nor does it propose to furnish service at the same rate charged its other residential customers. FPC's cost to serve the SUCOM customers is higher than the cost to serve its other residential

customers, so the price charged for the service will be higher. FPC's charge for electric service is clearly a rate, whether it consists of one component or, as in this case, two components—FPC's base rates plus the Sebring rider. The Commission clearly had the authority to review and approve it if the Commission determined, as it did, that the rate was fair, just, reasonable, and not unduly discriminatory.³

The courts have long upheld the Commission's exercise of jurisdiction over all aspects of utility rates, charges, and services. See, Florida Power Corporation v. Continental Testing Laboratories, 243 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971), (utility'stariff requiring customers to provide protective safeguards for their motors binding on customers as having been approved by the Commission); Lake Worth Utilities Authority v. Barkett, 433 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), (upheld Commission's exclusive

While appellant makes it clear that it does not wish to raise the question of whether the Sebring Rider rate is unduly discriminatory in this appeal, Appellant complains that the Commission unfairly twisted its argument into a rate discrimination argument. The Commission considered Appellant's argument to be a rate discrimination argument, because that is exactly what it is.

Appellant states that no evidence of discrimination was presented in the case, and the implication thus seems to be that the Commission should not have addressed the issue. While there is testimony on the record that the Sebring rider does not unduly discriminate against customers in SUCOM's service territory because the rider reflects the cost to serve those customers, it is true that no party presented specific evidence that the rider was discriminatory. Nonetheless, the Commission has the regulatory responsibility to ensure that the sates it approves are not unduly discriminatory, the parties and the Commission staff raised the issue, and the ultimate facts of the case required that it be addressed. (R. 159, 160).

jurisdiction to review surcharge on electric service furnished outside city limits); Polk County V. Florida Public Service Commission, 460 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1984), (upheld Commission's jurisdiction to issue rule allowing surcharge by municipal electric utilities on customers outside city limits); and City of Tallahassee V. Florida Public Service Commission, 441 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 1983), (upheld Commission's finding that surcharge imposed by municipal utility on nonresidents was unjustified and unduly discriminatory). Thus, decisional law does not support Appellant's argument that Chapter 366 somehow limits the Commission's authority to the task of setting rates as narrowly defined by Appellant. Whether labelled a surcharge, rate, toll, charge, loan, or rate structure, the Commission has the jurisdiction to review and approve or disapprove any type of charge imposed by FPC upon its customers.

Appellant places great reliance on Chapter 343, Laws of Florida (1991), to support its jurisdictional argument. That law does not affect the Commission's plenary jurisdiction to approve or disapprove the rates and charges of electric utilities, nor does the Commission have the authority to enforce its provisions. That is a matter for the circuit court, and is irrelevant to the issue on appeal here. Furthermore, the law is inapplicable because it never went into effect, and because it addressed a bond repayment scheme very different from the one approved by the Commission.

The act, by its terms, is not and never was effective unless approved in a referendum. Ch. 343, Sec. 4.(a), Laws of Fla.

(1991). The City of Sebring never called such a referendum, so the law never became effective. (Tr. 408). Appellant's reliance on Section 1.(3) of the act is therefore misplaced. At best, Appellant can argue that if the sale to FPC did not include sufficient funds to pay the bonds; if the City of Sebring held the election authorized in the act; if the voters had approved the scheme; if SUCOM had remained liable on the bonds; and if SUCOM imposed and collected a surcharge (to services furnished by another utility), then the Commission would not have had authority to regulate that surcharge.

CONCLUSION

It has long been held that the Commission's orders are clothed with the presumption of validity. Fla. 1982); City of Tallahassee V. Mann, 411 So. 2d 162 (Fla. 1981). Nb error appears plainly on the face of Order No. PSC-92-1468-FOF-EU to overcome this presumption. Therefore, Appellant bears the burden of showing, by clear and satisfactory record evidence, that the order is invalid, arbitrary, or unsupported by the evidence. Citizens of Florida V. Public Service Commission, 425 So. 2d 534 (Fla. 1982). Appellant

If it had gone into effect, Section 1.(3) of Chapter 91-343, Laws of Florida would have mandated that the debt repayment surcharge imposed by and collected on behalf of SUCOM would not be deemed to be a rate or charge for purposes of Chapter 366, Florida Statutes, nor would it be part of SUCOM's rate structure.

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